
Fallen Flags Remembered

When Canadian National closed 
its rail operations on the island 
of Newfoundland—the former 

Newfoundland Railway—in October 
1988, it marked the end of common-car-
rier narrow-gauge railroading in North 
America. Although other properties 
have survived or been resurrected as 
operating museums or tourist lines—
think East Broad Top, White Pass & Yu
kon and, of course, two in Colorado—
none labored as long into the 20th 
century doing the day-to-day work envi-
sioned by its builders. 

How did CN’s far-flung system come 
to include an island narrow-gauge? The 
answer, like the line itself across New-
foundland, is long and full of curves.

Newfoundland, along with coastal 
mainland Labrador, became Canada’s 
10th province on March 31, 1949. Before 
that, Newfoundland was, like Canada, a 
Dominion of the British Empire. By the 
1930’s, though, Britain was hard-pressed 
to support its oldest colony. Canada 
could ill afford responsibility for its east-
coast neighbor’s purse strings, particu-
larly with war on the horizon, but found 
motivation in the political fear that 
American interests might prevail—or be 
prevailed upon—to bail out the impov-
erished but strategically located colony. 

Most Newfoundlanders lived by the 
coast, and until the late 19th century 
virtually all their transport needs were 
met by marine vessels. Nothing came of 
an 1840’s proposal for a railway along 
the island’s south shore, intended to 
speed the North American end of the 
emerging transatlantic steamship trade.  

Four decades passed before the first 
rails were laid, ultimately forsaking the 
shore for an indirect route linking St. 
John’s and Port aux Basques—350 miles 
apart as the gull flies—with 547 miles of 
meandering 42-inch-gauge track.

Since Newfoundland’s commerce 
and politics were concentrated in the 
capital of St. John’s, it was designated 
the eastern terminus of the railway, 
which was chartered in 1881. By 1882, 
30 miles of track were in place west to 
Holyrood, the choice of gauge reflecting 
British Colonial tradition. 

Financial problems dogged the build
ers, and the railway came under govern-
ment control in 1884, when operations 
began on the Avalon Peninsula. By the 
time the cross-island main line was fin-
ished by contractor Robert Gillespie 
Reid in 1897—his 1890 arrival having 

brought much-improved methods and 
standards—a patchwork of companies 
had been united as Newfoundland Rail-
way (NR), the name on the 1881 charter. 
Reid’s efforts earned his firm, in 1893, a 
10-year contract to operate and manage 
the line. This was expanded to 50 years 
in 1898; following contract amendments 
in 1901, the Newfoundland Railway was 
reconstituted as part of the Reid-New-
foundland Co., controlled after Reid’s 
death in 1908 by his three sons.

On June 30, 1898, Port aux Basques 
welcomed the first official train to cross 
the island, inaugurating rail and con-
necting steamship operations to main-
land Nova Scotia that would evolve for 

CN’s Newfoundland Railway was unique
How a narrow-gauge gem went from British Colonial to Canadian Contemporary

Newfoundland Railway’s Overland Limited 
(a.k.a. the “Newfie Bullet”) calls at Corner 
Brook in 1948, the year before CN took over. 

Canadian National

Canadian NationalClassic Trains collection

General Electric 47-tonners 5000-5002 were Newfoundland Railway’s 
only diesels. Connected trucks gave them a B+B wheel arrangement. 

Modern-but-old-looking No. 1002 was the first of seven 2-8-2’s built 
for Newfoundland by North British Locomotive Works during 1935-41. 
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nine decades. Having profited from the 
line’s completion, and despite their con-
tractual near-monopoly in island trans-
port, the Reids were unable to turn a 
profit on their railway and steamship 
operations. The firm’s ensuing appetite 
for financial concessions led to mutual 
termination of the 50-year pact in 1923. 
After operating briefly as Newfoundland 
Government Railway, it became New-
foundland Railway again in 1926.

A flurry of branchline construction 
during 1909–1915 gave the railway al
most 1,000 route-miles; this dropped to 
700 in the ’30’s, most reductions occur
ring on the Avalon Peninsula. Branches 
to Carbonear, Placentia/Argentia, Bona
vista, and Lewisporte remained.

Newfoundland played a pivotal role 
in World War II during the Battle of the 
Atlantic and as a staging point for trans-
atlantic ship convoys and aircraft move-
ments. Construction of Allied bases and 
the associated movement of personnel 
resulted in a railway traffic surge. A 
British and Canadian airfield grew near 
the main line at Gander, and the United 
States also exploited Newfoundland’s rel
ative proximity to Europe. The two larg-
est American installations were a naval 
base at Argentia—site of the 1941 ship-
board meeting between President Roos-
evelt and Prime Minister Churchill—and 

Harmon Field, an Air Force base on the 
west coast at Stephenville. Rail traffic 
was a barometer of wartime pressures; 
between 1941 and 1943, NR’s passenger 
count rose from 223,000 to 500,000; 
freight tonnage also doubled. So impor-
tant was the line to American military 
interests that the U.S. government allo-
cated $2 million of “lend-lease” funds 
for locomotive and car construction. 

Although the war brought profits and 
a revitalized equipment roster, the rail-
way was not immune from the conflict’s 
brutality. On October 14, 1942, the Port 
aux Basques–North Sydney (N.S.) ferry 
SS Caribou was torpedoed and sunk by 
the German Navy’s U-69. Of 237 passen-
gers and crew on board, 101 survived.

Newfoundland’s 1949 entry into Can-
ada saw responsibility for much of the 
transport infrastructure assumed by the 
Canadian government, whose Canadian 
National Railways was charged with the 
management and operation of the rail-
way, as well as coastal steamship ser-
vices and the ferry link to Nova Scotia. 
The federal government agreed to subsi-
dize the operations. Despite wartime 
profits and some postwar rebounds, 
though, the railway had been and would 
continue to be a chronic money-loser. 

Newfoundland Railway was exclu-
sively steam-powered for all but the final 

Until 1965, the wandering Newfoundland Railway was the only land route across the island. 

By Kevin J. Holland

Passenger Car Books
RPC PUBLICATIONS INC.

Documenting the Grand Era of 
      Streamlined Rail Travel

 The Official Pullman Standard Library
The Passenger Car Library Budd, ACF

Visit rpcbooks.com for details
   New: Streamliner Creations

    Side elevation color renderings
Selected Streamlined Cars and Locos

Send or call 618-465-5513 for brochure 
 P O Box 503
Alton IL 62002

Builder Photos and Drawings

All US Railroads, CN CP



Fallen Flags Remembered

seven months of its pre-Confederation 
existence, as GE 47-ton center-cab die-
sels 5000–5002 arrived in August 1948. 
The last new NR locomotives were class 
R-2-d Mikados 324–329, built by Mont
real and delivered just weeks before 
Confederation. They became the young-
est steam locomotives, by five years, on 
the entire CNR. In all, four 4-6-0’s, a    
2-8-0, 10 4-6-2’s, and 30 2-8-2’s were 
conveyed to CNR, although they weren’t 
renumbered into the fleet until 1950. 

Canadian National added to its in
herited 42-inch-gauge car fleet through 
the 1950’s and spent heavily on track 
and other improvements. Little could be 
done, though, to reduce the line’s grades 
(up to 2.5 percent) and heavy curvature 
(10 degrees); standard-gauging was not 
seriously considered. Dieselization oc
curred in 1957, when the last 2-8-2’s 
were retired in favor of an eventual 47 
custom-designed General Motors NF110 
(Nos. 900–908) and NF210 (909–946) 

end-cab, “baby Geep” hood units, and 
six G8’s (800–805) for branchline use. 
The center-cabs became CNR 775–777.

Well into the 1960’s, the railway pro-
vided the only land link spanning New-
foundland. When the first road across 
the island opened as part of the Trans-
Canada Highway in late 1965, it trig-
gered an ultimately irreversible shift of 
traffic off the railway. In the highway’s 
first 15 years, the percentage of island 
freight handled by train dropped by 
more than half. More than 24 hours—
double the road time—was required for 
the St. John’s–Port aux Basques rail trip, 
and that was if the trains ran on time, a 
spotty prospect especially in winter. 

Passengers benefitted from CNR’s 
continued investment in rolling stock, 
although the non-air-conditioned fleet 
couldn’t provide mainland comfort lev-
els. The principal pre-Confederation pas
senger train was the overnight Overland 
Limited. CNR renamed it Caribou in 

1950, a fitting tribute to the ferry lost in 
1942. To most folks, though, the train 
was known from the war onward as the 
“Newfie Bullet,” a wry reference to its 
leisurely schedule (daily in summer, tri-
weekly the rest of the year). Although 
CN buses replaced the “Bullet” in July 
1969, mixed trains kept serving isolated 
mainline points and the Carbonear, 
Bonavista, and Argentia branches.

From the time of NR’s completion, 
moving freight to the island entailed 
unloading mainland cars at North Syd-
ney, N.S., “break-bulk” forwarding 100 
miles by ship across the Cabot Strait, 
and reloading into narrow-gauge cars at 
Port aux Basques. In 1967, CN intro-
duced a carferry operation which, with 
new standard- and dual-gauge trackage 
at Port aux Basques, permitted more ef
ficient transfer. Thereafter, a standard-
gauge CN switcher was assigned to Port 
aux Basques. By 1969, this had evolved 
to the temporary retrucking of CN main
land cars (and the occasional off-line 
car) meeting island clearance restric-
tions, which were jacked up and fitted 
with 42-inch-gauge trucks; cars were 
reunited with their original trucks back 
in Port aux Basques. Some CN freight 
cars from the mainland were perma-
nently retrucked for captive service.

In late 1979, underscoring a new em
phasis on intermodal traffic, Canadian 
National recast its Newfoundland oper-
ation as Terra Transport (TT). Derived 
from the province’s Latin name, Terra 
Nova, the new brand included a twin-ar
row logo (recycled from earlier VIA-CN 
use) and bright green paint on contain-

The Caribou hugs the coast near Corner Brook in 1967; consist is steam-generator car, bag-
gage car, coffee-shop diner, five coaches, first-class diner, sleeper-dorm, and three sleepers. 

George G. Weiss Canadian National

Caboose and coach of 97-car mixed train No. 203 at Grand Falls on October 3, 1986, carry 
markings for CN’s Terra Transport, the final incarnation of the railway across Newfoundland. 

Alex Mayes

New 1,200 h.p. NF210 923 is loaded on a ship 
at Montreal for delivery to Newfoundland.
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ers and road vehicles. Diesels and roll-
ing stock blended their post-1961 CN 
colors with the TT logo, but the new 
image couldn’t mask the findings of a 
348-page, 1979 federal inquiry docu-
ment forecasting the railway’s extinc-
tion. A Newfoundland Transportation 
Initiative in 1988, backed by almost $1 
billion in government money over 15 
years, sacrificed the railway in favor of 
intermodal traffic using enhanced port 
and highway facilities.

By that September, Terra Transport 
had all but quit its rail operations, ready 
to follow its two 42-inch-gauge shortline 
connections—the Buchans Railway and 
Grand Falls Central—into oblivion. Most 
of the railway’s traffic was already in 
containers, and in mid-summer these 
were diverted to trucks or carried by 
ship directly from the mainland to St. 
John’s, Corner Brook, and smaller ports. 
The final TT revenue train arrived Bish-
ops Falls from Corner Brook on Satur-
day, October 1, 1988, and removal of the 
main line commenced on October 12.

Although more than 70 pieces of nar-
row-gauge stock (a 4-6-2, diesels, ca
booses, coaches) are preserved in 20 lo
cations, most operable items on hand at 
closure migrated to Latin America. The 
Trinity Loop, an engineering feat on the 
Bonavista branch, also was preserved. 
During the 1950’s, CNR made no secret 
that only it “Served All Ten Provinces.” 
But no more. Railroading, and a way of 
life, had ended on the island of New-
foundland.  
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